THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

RECEIVED

JAN 03 2017

SC Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

The Honorable D. Craig Brown, Circuit Court Judge

---

Civil Case No. 2016-CP-40-02459  
Appellate Case No. 2016-001544

---

Sean Lyons,

Appellant,

v.

Palmetto Richland Springs,

Respondent.

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

---

Sean Lyons  
8310 Two Notch Rd.  
Columbia, SC 29223  
(714) 430-0367

In Pro Per

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. DOES THE APPELLANT STILL HAVE THE RIGHT TO APPEAL THE PROBATE COURT ORDER EVEN AFTER FIFTEEN DAYS?
  
2. WAS IT THE ACTIONS OF THE RESPONDENT THAT CAUSED THE DELAY OF FILING HIS APPEAL?
  
3. WAS APPELLANT REQUIRED TO BE GIVEN ACCESS TO LAW AND DID THIS LACK OF ACCESS TO A LAW LIBRARY OR LAW MATERIAL INJURE APPELLANT TO THE POINT THAT IT DENIED HIM HIS RIGHT TO APPEAL?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 19<sup>th</sup>, 2016, an Application for Involuntary Emergency Hospitalization for Mental Illness was filed regarding Sean Lyons, alleging that Sean Lyons was mentally ill and was a danger to self or others. The specific type of serious harm thought probable was not stated in the application.

How Sean Lyons came to be in the situation to be alleged to be mentally ill was that on February 16, 2016 he was initially hospitalized after being brought to the emergency room by ambulance. Mr. Lyons was out for a morning jog when he stumbled upon a gun. When reporting this to the police, an ambulance arrived. It was at this moment, police gave Sean Lyons the option of either going to jail for 30 days, for not being able to provide proper identification, or get into the ambulance. Sean Lyons chose to enter the ambulance and requested to be transported to Palmetto Richland Springs.

On March 3, 2016 the Application of Involuntary Emergency Hospitalization for Mental Illness came before the Associate Probate Judge Jacqueline Belton. It is at this hearing the observations made over the previous two weeks were read to the court. The Respondent made allegations of sexual harassment and further alleged that Appellant was talking about bombs. It is the Appellant's assumption that these are the reasons the court found in favor of the Respondent at the initial hearing of mental illness. There is absolutely no documentary evidence supporting these allegations.

Sean Lyons continued to be hospitalized for an approximately 3 additional weeks after the hearing and was released on March 31, 2016. He was ordered for outpatient treatment for a period not to exceed 12 months from the date of the March 3, 2016 Order.

Appellant, Sean Lyons, appealed the order at the earliest possible time. You have to remember that when you're in a mental hospital, it's not like jail, you don't get access to a law library, writing utensils, mail system, or court. There are no requirements for the hospital to serve court documents, or file documents to the court for you. Making it impossible to file an appeal any earlier than April 15, 2016. It was on this date that Appellant filed with the Court of Common Pleas of the Fifth Judicial Circuit a Notice of Intention to Appeal and Grounds for the Appeal, pursuant to applicable law.

On June 10, 2016, the Appellant in this case, as was also the Appellant in the lower court, Sean Lyons' appeal came before a hearing. At this hearing the Appellant laid out the case for the absent of evidence supporting mental illness. The Respondent argued that the appeal was filed untimely. It was at this time that the Sean Lyons requested time to answer Respondents argument about the strict fifteen days to appeal the order from March 3, 2016. The Court took the case under advisement awaiting Sean Lyons' response. There ultimately was no response from the Court, but the Respondent did file, on or around June 30, 2016, a proposed order for the Judge to sign. The defective proposed order was subsequently signed. It does not appear that the lower Court received Appellant's reply to Respondent's argument, though it was filed. It appears the lower court allowed the Respondent's attorney to write the final order, trusting in the attorney, that the order submitted, would conform to the law and that it would be the Respondent's attorney who would have to be responsible for an order that would withstand an appeal.

The order, finding that the Appellant's appeal in the Court of Common Pleas was not timely filed, was signed on July 7, 2016 and filed in the Court of Common Pleas, Fifth Judicial Circuit in the county of Richland, July 15, 2016.

Appellant's Notice of Appeal from the lower courts order was filed with The South Carolina Court of Appeals on July 22, 2016. Appellant's Notice of Appeal was served on Respondent on July 25, 2016.

## ARGUMENTS

I. FIFTEEN DAYS TO FILE AN APPEAL IS SO INSUFFICIENT, UNDER THE CIRCUMSTANCES, THAT IT BECOMES A DENIAL OF JUSTICE.

The procedure for appealing a probate order for involuntary commitment to a hospital is set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620. It states, "The petitioner or the person shall have the right to appeal from any order of the probate court issued pursuant to Section 44-17-580 to the court of common pleas of the county where the probate court is situated. The notice of intention to appeal together with the grounds for the appeal shall be filed in the probate court and the court of common pleas within fifteen days of the date of the order issued pursuant to Section 44-17-580."

Either fifteen days is an insufficient amount of time or the Respondent is responsible for not allowing Appellant access to the court. Therefore, the Respondent cannot argue that fifteen days is a strict limitation, because the Respondent themselves have caused the Appellant's short delay in filing his appeal.

There have been no published cases for somebody in the position that the Appellant is in under this appeal. The Appellant has properly filed, according to S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620 the required intention to appeal together with the ground for appeal, at the earliest possible time. Well within an acceptable time frame, considering the circumstances. It was impossible to secure an attorney, or find the

specific law necessary to appeal the probate order until, Lyons was out of the hospital. This is due to the fact that the Respondent did not provide any access to any legal documents, experts, and is attempting to deny Lyons of his right to appeal through constructive tactics.

There is a lot on the line if the Respondent loses this appeal. They will stop at nothing to lie and ignore the Appellant and his valid legal arguments and use invalid cases that deal with scenarios that aren't even similar to this case. It's up to the court to understand the position that the Appellant's perceived delay of filing is through no fault of his own, but through the direct denial of access to the court while under the care of the Respondent.

Generally, "[T]he courts will not inquire into the wisdom of the legislative decision in establishing the period of legal bar, unless the time allowed is manifestly so insufficient that the statute becomes a denial of justice." Hite v. Town of West Columbia, 220 S.C. 59, 66 S.E.2d 427 (1951). Fifteen days is such an insufficient amount of time, that this Court must allow Lyons' appeal to be allowed on the merits of his case and not denied because of the time of the filing.

II. APPEAL MUST BE ACCEPTED AS TIMELY AND A NEW HEARING HELD, AS THE APPELLANT WAS CONFINED TO A HOSPITAL MAKING IT IMPOSSIBLE TO FILE AN APPEAL ANY EARLIER.

The Appellant, Sean Lyons, was unable to file an appeal while confined to the hospital. The limits of what is possible to pursue a legal appeal in a hospital comes

down to the restrictions placed upon the patient. The restrictions placed upon Lyons at the time, made it impossible to pursue an appeal while hospitalized.

Prisoners that are confined to jail are required to be given access to a law library, why wouldn't a patient, who also has to defend against their confinement, be required to be given the same accommodations? Palmetto Richland Springs did not provide adequate access to the court, access to law, or a legal representative to assist in any appeal. If they take the responsibility to commit patients, they should take the responsibility to give access to law, otherwise it's just a one-way street in favor of the Respondent.

For prisoners, the court cases that lay out the requirement for a prisoner's access to law is Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 97 S.Ct. 1491, 52 L.Ed.2d 72 (1977) and Hendricks v. South Carolina Dept. of Corrections, 385 S.C. 625, 686 S.E.2d 191 (2009). The Supreme Court of the United States found, "the fundamental constitutional right of access to the courts requires prison authorities to assist inmates in the preparation and filing of meaningful legal papers by providing prisoners with adequate law libraries or adequate assistance from persons trained in the law." Bounds v. Smith, 430 U.S. 817, 828.

The Respondent in this case took advantage of the Appellant's lack of access to a law library or access to a person trained in the law, and is now claiming that the appeal was not filed timely (R. pp. 5-6, Transcript of Proceedings, R. p 22 line 25, R. p 23 lines 1-5). It's shameful that the Respondent's attorney will perpetuate any argument possible to shield Respondent from possible further civil liability. An attorney should know better than try to deny access to the court. The Respondent

knew very well that Appellant was at a disadvantage until release from confinement of the hospital and is now taking advantage of the situation and trying to further deny the Appellant from a proper appeal.