THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE D. CRAIG BROWN
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

RECEIVED

DEC 21 2016

SC Court of Appeals

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2016-001544
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2016-CP-40-02459

Sean Lyons,

APPELLANT,

versus

Palmetto Richland Springs,

RESPONDENT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Shelton W. Haile
Michelle P. Kelley
RICHARDSON, PLOWDEN & ROBINSON, PA
1900 Barnwell Street (29201)
Post Office Drawer 7788
Columbia, South Carolina 29202
(803) 771-4400
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE D. CRAIG BROWN

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- 1. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE APPELLANT'S APPEAL FROM THE PROBATE COURT ORDER WAS UNTIMELY**
- 2. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE APPLICATION OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-17-620**
- 3. APPELLANT'S ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PRESERVED**
- 4. EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE PROBATE COURT FINDING**

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 16, 2016, police responded to a report that the Appellant was behaving strangely. The responding officers concluded that the Appellant may have some mental health concerns. As a result, he was taken to Palmetto Health Baptist emergency department. After two days at Palmetto Health Baptist, the Appellant was transferred to Palmetto Health Richland Springs on February 18, 2016 for a mental health evaluation and treatment. On February 19, 2016, an Application for Involuntary Emergency Hospitalization for Mental Illness was completed. The Probate Court also filed a Notice of Hearing, Appointment of Counsel, Appointment of GAL, Appointment of Designated Examiners, dated February 24, 2016. The Appellant stayed at Palmetto Health Richland Springs until March 8, 2016. (R. pp. 4-10, 28-30)

On February 22, 2016, Dr. McGough completed a Report of Designated Examiner for Mental Illness, which read as follows:

Patient remains guarded, evasive, & delusional. He refused to provide history information. He has been agitated and sexually inappropriate. He exhibits illogical thought process. The Patient has written a writ of habeas[sic] corpus and insists I am imprisoning him unlawfully. He demonstrates impaired insight/judgment. Given impairment in thought

process & content, he remains a danger to himself/others, in need of mandatory treatment.

(R. p. 44) Dr. McGough's report was filed with the Probate Court on February 25, 2016, and then subsequently became part of the Circuit Court record. Id.

Also filed on February 25, 2016 and also appearing in the Circuit Court record was a February 23, 2016 Report of Designated Examiner for Mental Illness completed by Andrea Gantt, LMSW. Ms. Gantt stated as follows:

Patient admitted d/t aggression and bizarre behavior displayed in ED after being brought to the ED by EMS and law enforcement. Pt. has been very grandiose and guarded [with] his responses. He complains of being held against his will and is demanding immediate release and/or hearing.

(R. p. 46)

On February 24, 2016, the Probate Court received a Petition for Habeas Corpus of the Petitioner Sean Lyons dated February 22, 2016. (R. pp. 4, 11) On March 3, 2016, the Probate Court issued an Order committing the Appellant to Palmetto Richland Springs for inpatient care and treatment. (R. pp. 3, 5-6) On March 8, 2016, the Probate Court issued an Order addressing the Appellant's Petition for Habeas Corpus wherein the Court found Habeas Corpus relief was not applicable to his commitment and ordered he shall remain committed for further inpatient treatment. (R. p. 4). Also on March 8, 2016, the Appellant was transferred to the South Carolina Department of Mental Health Bryan Psychiatric Hospital. (R. pp. 5-6) The Appellant's brief states that he was released from inpatient care on March 31, 2016. (IBOA, p. 2)

On April 15, 2016, the Appellant appealed the March 3, 2016, Probate Court Order. (R. p. 31) On June 10, 2016, the Appellant and Respondent appeared before the Circuit Court on this appeal. (R. pp. 12-27) At the hearing, the Respondent submitted a

memorandum of law dated June 10, 2016. (R. pp. 32-34) Following the hearing, the Appellant submitted a memorandum of law dated June 13, 2016. (R. pp. 35-43) By order dated July 6, 2016, the Circuit Court dismissed his appeal as untimely, holding that the Appellant failed to appeal within the prescribed fifteen-day time limit set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620. The Circuit Court further found that the Probate Court order should not be disturbed where a review of the record revealed sufficient evidentiary support for the order. (R. pp. 5-6)

COUNTERSTATEMENT OF FACTS

On February 18, 2016 through March 8, 2016, the Appellant was treated at Palmetto Health Richland/Richland Springs. The examiners' reports state he acted agitated, sexually inappropriate, aggressive and bizarre. The reports indicate he was illogical, delusional, and a danger to himself and others. (R. pp. 44-47)

ARGUMENT

I. THE CIRCUIT COURT PROPERLY HELD THAT THE APPELLANT'S APPEAL FROM THE PROBATE COURT ORDER WAS UNTIMELY

Respondent submits that the Circuit Court properly held that the Appellant's appeal from the Probate Court order was untimely where it exceeded the statutorily prescribed time for appeals set forth in S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620. (R. p. 6) The statute reads as follows:

The petitioner or the person shall have the right to appeal from any order of the probate court issued pursuant to Section 44-17-580 to the court of common pleas of the county where the probate court is situated. The notice of intention to appeal together with the grounds for the appeal shall

be filed in the probate court and the court of common pleas within fifteen days of the date of the order issued pursuant to Section 44-17-580....

S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620

As argued by the Respondent before the Circuit Court, under South Carolina law, a party must file both a notice of intention to appeal and their grounds for appeal within the fifteen-day deadline. South Carolina case law supports the dismissal of an appeal for falling outside of this statutorily prescribed timeline.

In Mims v. Alston, the South Carolina Supreme Court upheld the fifteen-day appellate window from a probate court order. Mims was committed via order dated April 23, 1991. She was subsequently transferred to a psychiatric hospital where she remained until June 27, 1991. Mims v. Alston, 312 S.C. 311, 312–13, 440 S.E.2d 357, 358 (1994) In Mims, there were two probate court orders. After the April 23, 2016 order, the Appellant filed a “Memorandum Of Law In Support Of Her Argument That She Be Released” on May 16, 1991. After a second probate court order issued on May 23, 1991, the Appellant filed a notice of appeal the next day, on May 24, 1991, but did not file the grounds for her appeal. Id. 312, 358.

The Supreme Court upheld the circuit court ruling that found the “appellant had not perfected her appeal of either order because she had not filed grounds for appeal within the fifteen-day limit provided under S.C. Code § 44–17–620 (1985).” Id. at 313, 358. In Mims, the Appellant remained committed throughout the fifteen-day appellate period. Despite her status in the mental hospital, the Supreme Court found the fifteen-day statute of limitations was applicable. Likewise, this Court should uphold the lower court’s application of the fifteen-day statute of limitations in the case at hand. See also Argoe v. Three Rivers Behavioral Health, L.L.C., 392 S.C. 462, 471, 710 S.E.2d 67, 72

(2011)(Court held the Appellant could not collaterally challenge the commitment orders where the fifteen-day time period for an appeal had lapsed).

As argued before the lower court, the Probate Court in this case issued an Order of Detention on March 3, 2016, making March 18, 2016 Lyons' statutorily mandated appeal deadline. The statute does not provide for any excuses permitting late filing, including detention as asserted by Appellant Lyons. As Appellant failed to appeal in a timely manner, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's dismissal of his appeal as untimely.

The Appellant seems to argue that his status as a confined mental health patient justifies his delay in filing an appeal. However, the statute is specifically tailored to appeals from mental health confinement orders and, thus, such confinement was considered when establishing a fifteen-day window. Additionally, Mims addressed a similar instance of an Appellant being confined in a mental health institution during the fifteen-day appellate time period and the court found the statute of limitations applicable.

The Appellant contends that Respondent was required to give him access to a law library and law materials and Respondent's alleged failure to do so resulted in his denial of a right to appeal. In Kollins v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health, the South Carolina District Court examined a claim from a Plaintiff confined in the South Carolina Department of Mental Health alleging that he had a constitutional right to a law library. The South Carolina District Court found that while prisoners and mental health detainees are entitled to "meaningful access" to the courts, this does not require "access to a law library or legal assistance in filing lawsuits." Kollins sets this notion forth in the following excerpt:

In *Bounds v. Smith*, 430 U.S. 817, 97 S.Ct. 1491, 52 L.Ed.2d 72 (1978), the Supreme Court defined access to the courts for prisoners as “meaningful access.” *Bounds*, 430 U.S. at 830.

This was interpreted to require institutions to provide access to a law library or legal assistance in filing lawsuits. However, the *Casey* decision, issued in 1996, indicated that “*Bounds* established no such right.... The right that *Bounds* acknowledged was the (already well-established) right of *access to the courts*.” *Lewis v. Casey*, 518 U.S. at 350. The *Casey* decision distanced itself from the more expansive *Bounds* decision, finding that *Bounds* “appear[s] to suggest that the State must enable the prisoner to *discover* grievances, and to *litigate effectively* once in court.... These elaborations upon the right of access to the courts have no antecedent in our pre-*Bounds* cases, and we now disclaim them.” *Casey*, 518 U.S. at 343. The *Casey* court went on:

In other words, *Bounds* does not guarantee inmates the wherewithall to transform themselves into litigating engines capable of filing everything from shareholder derivative actions to slip-and-fall claims. The tools it requires to be provided are those that the inmates need in order to attack their sentences, directly or collaterally, and in order to challenge the conditions of their confinement. Impairment of any *other* litigating capacity is simply one of the incidental (and perfectly constitutional) consequences of conviction and incarceration.

Id. at 355. The “touchstone,” according to *Casey*, is that inmates be afforded “a reasonably adequate opportunity to file nonfrivolous legal claims challenging their convictions or conditions of confinement.” *Id.* at 356.

As a fundamental tenet associated with our basic concepts of ordered liberty, an individual whose liberty is constrained against his will, whether he be a mental patient, a criminally-convicted inmate, a pre-trial detainee, or an individual civilly committed through an SVP act, has a constitutional right of access to the courts to challenge the fact or conditions of his confinement....

Kollins v. S.C. Dep't of Mental Health, No. CA 804-1599-CMC-BHH, 2007 WL 790010, at *2 (D.S.C. Mar. 14, 2007). The Court continued, stating that Casey found a legal library was only one method by which access to the courts may be accomplished and that it was not required as a matter of constitutional right. Id.

The Appellant makes generic assertions that the Respondent prevented the Appellant from appealing his commitment and failed to provide him with legal materials. The Appellant does not specifically outline in what way he was prevented from filing legal documents, what legal materials he needed, or how he was prevented from obtaining the same. The Appellant further alleges he was denied access to legal counsel. However, the Appellant submitted a petition for habeas corpus on February 24, 2016. This petition was examined by the Probate Court and addressed in the Probate Court's March 8, 2016 Order Regarding Writ of Habeas Corpus. The Appellant's ability to file this petition and receive a ruling on the same is evidence of the Appellant's access to the court following the March 3, 2016, Order of Detention. His argument that the Respondent directly denied him access to the courts, legal materials or an attorney fails where he demonstrated his ability to file matters before the court during his commitment period. Where the Plaintiff has failed to demonstrate he was denied access to the courts and the record reveals evidence to the contrary, this Court should affirm the Circuit Court's dismissal of his appeal from the Probate Court order.

II. THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN THE APPLICATION OF S.C. CODE ANN. § 44-17-620

The Appellant argues that a fifteen-day appellate window is "so insufficient, under the circumstances, that it becomes a denial of justice." (IBOA, p. 4) S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620 clearly sets forth a fifteen-day statute of limitations, so the Appellant appears to be arguing the statute amounts to a denial of justice. The South Carolina Supreme Court has noted that the Court does not favor finding statutes unconstitutional.

This Court is reluctant to find a statute unconstitutional. Every presumption is made in favor of a statute's constitutionality. *Gold v. South Carolina Bd. of Chiropractic Exam'rs*, 271 S.C. 74, 245 S.E.2d 117

(1978). A “legislative act will not be declared unconstitutional unless its repugnance to the constitution is clear and beyond a reasonable doubt.” *Joytime Distribs. and Amusement Co., Inc. v. State*, 338 S.C. 634, 640, 528 S.E.2d 647, 650 (1999). [The Appellant] bears the burden of proving the statute unconstitutional. *See Home Health Serv., Inc. v. South Carolina Tax Comm'n*, 312 S.C. 324, 440 S.E.2d 375 (1994).

In re Treatment & Care of Luckabaugh, 351 S.C. 122, 134–35, 568 S.E.2d 338, 344 (2002). As established in Luckabaugh, the Appellant has a burden to demonstrate that fifteen-days to appeal a Probate Court order amounted to a clear constitutional violation beyond any reasonable doubt. Where the Appellant has failed to demonstrate that the statute amounts to a constitutional violation, then the Appellant has not met his burden of proof regarding the same. As a result, the Circuit Court’s application of S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620 and its time bar was appropriate and should be affirmed.

III. APPELLANT’S ARGUMENTS ARE NOT PRESERVED

At the June 10, 2016, Circuit Court hearing stemming from Appellant’s appeal from the Probate Court order, Respondent argued that the appeal was untimely. Appellant did not respond to the timeliness argument at the hearing, but did ask for additional time to submit a legal memorandum. In his legal memorandum dated June 13, 2016, the Appellant states he filed his appeal at the earliest possible date. He argues that the statutory language allows for an appeal outside the fifteen-day window. (R. pp. 35-36). He does not, however, argue that his untimeliness was the result of a lack of access to legal materials or an attorney. Nor does he argue that S.C. Code Ann. § 44-17-620 amounts to a denial of justice. Since the Appellant did not raise these arguments before the lower court, they are not properly preserved for review by this Court.

[A] great number of reported cases in South Carolina for at least four generations, and more recently the appellate court rules and rules of civil

procedure, have emphasized the importance and absolute necessity of ensuring that all issues and arguments are presented to the lower court for its consideration. Issues and arguments are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court. *E.g., Wilder Corp. v. Wilke*, 330 S.C. 71, 76, 497 S.E.2d 731, 733 (1998) (“It is axiomatic that an issue cannot be raised for the first time on appeal, but must have been raised to and ruled upon by the trial judge to be preserved for appellate review.”); *Long v. Dunlap*, 87 S.C. 8, 68 S.E. 801 (1910) (Supreme Court will not consider any point which was not presented and considered below unless it involves jurisdiction of the court); *Gaffney v. Peeler*, 21 S.C. 55 (1884) (question of law which was not presented to or passed upon by the trial court cannot be raised on appeal); Rule 210(c), SCACR (record on appeal shall not include matter which was not presented to lower court).

Elam v. S.C. Dep't of Transp., 361 S.C. 9, 23–24, 602 S.E.2d 772, 779–80 (2004)

Where the Appellant’s issues on appeal were not raised and ruled upon by the Circuit Court, the Respondent respectfully requests this Court dismiss them for a lack of appellate preservation.

IV. EVIDENCE SUPPORTED THE PROBATE COURT FINDING

The Circuit Court’s order notes that even if the appeal had been timely filed, evidence existed to support the Probate Court order confining the Appellant for mental health treatment. (R. p. 6) Respondent urges this Court to affirm the lower court’s decision that the appeal was untimely. However, in the alternative, Respondent respectfully requests this Court find that the Probate Court order should be affirmed where it was based on two examiner reports recommending the Appellant’s commitment. “If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the circuit court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them.” Matter of Howard, 315 S.C. 356, 361, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993). See also Dean v. Kilgore, 313 S.C. 257, 437 S.E.2d 154 (Ct. App.

1993). The Circuit Court found the Probate Court's March 3, 2016 Order had evidentiary supported and affirmed on that basis. As an alternative argument, we respectfully request this Court affirm the Circuit Court's finding that the Probate Court had sufficient evidence to support its ruling.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, the Respondent respectfully requests the Court affirm the Circuit Court's order granting dismissing the Appellant's Probate Court appeal where it was untimely filed and the Appellant's issues for appeal in opposition are not preserved.